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SNOW, CHRISTENSEN & MARTINEAU

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

10 Exchange Place, Eleventh Floor

Post Office Box 45000

Salt Lake City, Utah 84145

Telephone: (801) 521-9000

IN THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
UTAH COUNTY, STATE OF UTAH

“RALPH J. YARRO II1, an individual,
T'DARCY G. MOTT, an individual, and
BRENT D. CHRISTENSEN, an individual,

Plaintiffs, COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND

V.

> VAL NOORDA KREIDEL, an individual,

"“N'TERRY PETERSON, an individual, . Iy
QI WILLIAM MUSTARD, an individual, cvitve. 0504 00205

“THE NOORDA FAMILY TRUST, a Trust,

™ RAYMONT? J. NOORDA, an individual .
+, 8nd a trustee of the Noorda Family Trust, C
LEWENA NOORDA, an individual anda ~ Fonorable ’&éﬁ%&éﬂ/
\\ trustee of the Noorda Family Trust, and Bﬂ/‘ @

JOHN DOES 1 THROUGH 10, ’

Defendants.

Plaintiffs Ralph J. Yarro ITI, Darcy G. Mott and Brent D. Christensen (hereafter referred
to collectively as “plaintiffs”) hereby complain of Defendants Val Noorda Kreidel, Tetry
Peterson, Willlam Mustard, the Noorda Family Trust, Raymond J, Noorda and Lewena Noorda
(in both their individual capacities and in their capacities as trustees of the Noorda Family Trust),

and John Does 1-10; and allege as follows: - mmms: cmm e



THE PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Ralph J. Yarro III (“Mr. Yarro”) is an individual who is a resident of
Utah County, Utah. Mr, Yarro is one of the three members of the Board of Directors uoﬂf The ‘
Canopy Group, Inc. (“Canopy™), which is a closely held corporation organized under the Iawg of
the State of Utah, with its principal place of business in Lindon, Utah. Mr. Yarro began serving
as Canopy’s General Manager in 1996 and as its President and Chief Executive Officer in 1998.

2. Plaintiff Darcy G. Mott (“Mr, Mott™) is an individual who is a resident of Utah
County, Utah, Mr. Mott began serving as Canopy’s Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer in 1999.

3. Plaintiff Brent D. Christensen (“Mr. Christensen™) ig an individual who is a
regident of Salt Lake County, Utah. Mr. Christensen began serving as Canopy’s Vice Pregident,
Corporate Counsel and Assistant Secretary in 2001.

4. Defendant Val Noorda Kreidel (“Ms. Kreidel”) is an individual who is a resident

of Orange County, California. Ms. Kreidel is the daughter of Raymond J. and Lewena Noorda.

5. Defendant Tetry Peterson (“Mir. Peterson™) is an individual who i¢ a resident of
Utah County, Utah.
6, Defendant William Mustard (“Mr. Mustard™) is an individual who is a resident of

Westchester County, New York,

7. Upon jnformation and belief, defendant the Noorda Family Trust (“the Trust™)
was created in California on October 8, 1980, and has been subsequently atnended.

8. Defendants Raymond J, Noorda (“Mr, Noorda”) and Lewena Noorda (“Mrs,
Noorda”) (collectively “Mr. and Mrs. Noorda™) are residents of Utah County, Utah. Mr. and

Mrs. Noorda are trustees of the Noorda Family Trust and are the other two members of the Board



of Directors of Canopy.

9, Defendants John Does | through 10 are persons assisting or otherwise acting in
concert with defendants and others to deprive plaintiffs of their rights and interests \_{vit?x respect
ta Canopy and other related entities. »

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10.  Jurisdiction is properly laid in the Fourth District Court in and for Utah County,
Utgh, pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code §§ 78-3-4 and 78-33-1 et seq.

11.  Venue is propetly laid in the Fourth District Coutt in and for Utah County, Utah,
pursuant to the provisions of Utgh Code §§ 78-13-4, 78-13-5, 78-13-6, and/ot 78-13-7.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

12.  In 1980, Mr. and Mrs. Noorda formed the Trust to hold certain of their agsets,
including cash and investments. Later, the Trust acquired cominon stock in Novell, Inc.
(“Novell”) and ownership of an entity known as NFT Transportation.

13. In 1992, NFT Ventures, Inc. (“NFT Ventures™), & corporation wholly owned by
the Trust, was formed. The Trust contributed some cash to NFT Ventures; it also contributed
equity investiments that the Trust had previously made in various companies; and it assigned
certain technologies to NFT Ventures. No Novell stock was ever contributed to NFT Ventures or
to Canopy.

14. After Mr. Noorda retired as Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of
Novell in 1994, Mr. Noorda devoted all of his time to the affairs of the Trust and NFT Ventures.

18. In 1995, Mr, Yaro was hired by NFT Ventures fo assist Mr. Noorda in managing

the holdings and investments of NFT Venturcs. Mr. Noorda had previously becorne acquainted

with Mr. Yarro when Mr, Noorda was Pregic and Chief BExecutive Officer of Novell and Mr.



Y arro was an employee of Novell.

16.  In 1996, the president of NFT Ventures left the company. At that time, M.
Noorda appointed Mr. Yarfo to the position of General Manager to assist Mr. Noorda directly in
running the company. In 1996, NFT Ventures’ name was changed to The Canopy G’L‘OUI‘), Inc

17.  Mr. Yarro worked closely with My, Noorda at NFT Ventures and Canopy,
interacting with him several hours a day over 2 period of several years. Mr.Noorda became Mr.
Yarro’s mentor. Mr. Noorda considered Mr. Yarro to have exceptional business abilities, and to
be a hard worker whose abilities and effotts added substantial value to Canopy, as well as to the
various companies in which Canopy invested capital (the “portfolio companies™). In recognition
of Mr. Yamo’s efforts, Mr. Noorda promised Mr, Yarro additional compensation and incentives,
including, incentive bonuses when portfolio companies were sold. Mr. Noorda also told Mr.
Yarro on several ocoasions over the years that Mr. Noorda would structure 2 compensation and
ownership plan for Mr. Yatro,

18. After secepting appointment ag General Manager, Mr, Yaro developed and
presented a comprehensive plan for each portfolio company' to Mr. Noorda. Mr. Yarro and Mr.
Noorda then refined and implemented this plan together. With Mr. Noorda and Mr. Yarro
working closely together, Canopy exceeded its goals. Mr. Noorda in tutn kept his commitments
and paid incentive bonuses to Mr. Yarro and other employees, and Mr. Noorda also began to
develop the promiséd compensatién and ownership plan. As a reward for his contributions to
Canopy, Mr. Yarro also began to receive annual bonuses and substantial salary increases.

19. Since at least 1994, Mr. Noorda placed Ms. Kreide) on the payroll of NFT
Ventures with an annual salary of $48,000, together with health insurance benefits for herself and

her family. Notwithstanding the fact that Ms, Kreidel was paid a salary, she had no substantive



involvement in NET Venturss or Canopy. At Mr. Noorda’s behest, Ms. Kreidel was appointed to
the Board of Directors of MTL, a portfolio company from whom she has received compensation
since 1994 in the form of cash and stock options, consistent with MTI's board compc_:r_mution
program for its ovtside directors, and consistent with the compensation received by Mr, Noorcin
for his service on the MTT board.,

20.  Mr. Peterson has acted as a personal financial advisor and money manager to Mr.
and Mrs, Noorda and the Trust for many years. Mr. Peterson also came to manage other
accounts for Mr. and Mrs. Noorda, including accounts for certain charitable entities ereated by
Mr. and Mrs, Noordz. Beginning in approximately 1996, Mr. Peterson convinced Mr. and Mrs.
Noorda to consolidate Canopy’s cash and place it, together with the MTI stock owned by
Canopy, under his management. Mr. Peterson also convinced My, Yarro to allow him to manage
Mr. Yarro’s personal account.

21. Through the years, some of Canopy’s monics were simply placed under Mr.
Peterson’s managetmetit and mories gem;ated by the sale or quuiaétion of certain portfolio
compaties were also placed under Mr. Peterson’s managetment, Other stock owned by Canopy
was also held by Mr. Peterson. When Mr, Peterson moved to another firm, he prevailed on Mr.
Noorda and Mr. Yarro to transfer the accounts he managed for them to this firm as well, On both
occasions when Canopy portfolio companies went public, Mr. Peterson tried to persnaide Mr.
Noords und Mr, Yarro to deposit Canopy’s shares with }ﬁm, even though the firm with whom he
was associated had not participated in the Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) and had not been a
market maker in the stocl. Mr. Peterson became irritated when Mr. Noorda and Mr. Yarro chose
not to deposit Canopy’s shares with him,

22. Despite the fact that Mr, Peterson’s management of the parties’ accounts was, at




best, marginal, Mr. Peterson came {0 manage a Canopy tmoney market account totaling
approximately $40 to $50 million. This money market account iz used as Canopy’s main
operating account. Thus, Mr. Peterson has had the ability to watch Canopy’s daily cgs:h ‘
transactions and he has had access to confidentlal information regarding Canopy’s operations. |

23.  Jn August 1998, Mr. Yarro accepted appointment as President and Chief
Executive Ofﬁcer of Canopy, and was also named to the Board of Directors of Cantopy. ‘From
that time to the present, Mr. and Mrs. Noorda and Mr, Yarro have comprised the only three
members of the Board of Directors of Canopy.

24, As amentor, Mr. Noorda provided instruction and direction to Mr. Yarro in nearly
every facet of Mr. Yarro’s tesponsibilities, first as General Manager and then as President and
Chief Executive Officer of Canopy. Mr, Noorda used his own experience to illustrate the advice
and direction he gave Mr. Yarro. In this context, on mumerous occasions, Mr. Noorda told M.
Yarro that he did not want his children to be substantively involved with Canopy. [n numerous
communications both with Mr. Noorda and Mrs. Noorda, Mr. Yarro and others were informed
that Mr. and Mrs. Noorda did not want to bequeath or devise to their children any interest in
Canopy, and that they did not want theix children to participate in the menagement of Canopy.
M. Yarro was specifically instructed by the Noordas on numerous occasiond that he should not
provide information about Canopy to Mr. and Mrs, Noorda’s children.

25.  In early 1999, Mr. Noorda hired Mr. Mott as Chief Financial Officer for Canopy.
Mr. Noozda had known Mr. Mott since 1986, when he hired Mr. Mott to work for Novell, where
they. worked together over many years in Mr. Mott’s capacity as Viee President and Treasurer of
Noveil.

26. Mr. Mot agreed to employment with Cagopy in reliance upon Mr. Noorda's



assurances that Mr. Mott’s compensation would include incentive bonuses to be achieved upon
the successful sales of Canopy portfolio companies, as well as annual bonuses. Mt. Noorda also
promised that Canopy would put in place a plan which would provide Canopy employees with an
equity ownership intetest in the company. Mr. Noorda told Mr. Mott that one of his ass1gn1nems
would be to work on the development of such a plan, with the help of outside consultants, which
would then be presented to Canopy’s Board of Directors.

27. On or about February 29, 2000, Mr. and Mrs. Noorda put in place an equity
ownership plan for Mr. Yarro (the “Febmary 2000 Option Agreement”). The February 2000
Option Agreement was conceived and prepared by Mr, and Mrs. Noorda’s personal accountants,
financial advisors and lawyers, including their estate planning attorney, at the direction of Mr.
and Mrs. Noorda. Mr. Yarro’s involvement with, the February 2000 Option Agreement was
limited to group discussions in which the outside advisers and Mr. and Mrs. Noorda were
present. Mr, Mott’s involvement in the Fébruary 2000 Option Agreement was only to verity
Canopy’s investment basis in the various portfolio companies.

28, The February 2000 Option Agreement gave Mr. Yarro the right to purchase one-
half of the Canopy owned shares in all Canopy portfolio companies (except MTI) at a price equal
to Canopy’s basis and it also provided for Mr. Yarro to realize profits and proceeds upon the sale
of any Canopy portfolio company. The February 2000 Option Agreement was consistent with
M. Noorda’s repeated statemeuts to Mr. Yatro and others that he wanted to recognize Mr. Yarro
as an equal in Canopy, and provide for Mr. Yarro to obtain an oqual interest in Canopy upon Mr.
Yurro paying one-half of the amount that the Trust paid for its ownership interest in Canopy.

29, Shortly after the February 2000 Option Agreement became effective, it was

determined during an SEC review process in connection with the IPO of Caldera Systems (a



portfolio company) that, under the February 2000 Option Agreement, Canapy portfolio
companies would incur and have to disclose a conipensation charge for the difference between
the IPO stock price and the underlying Canopy basis for Ms. Yarro’s option shares, _U,}}der the
February 2000 Option Agresment, this charge approximated $70 million for Caldera Systems.ﬂ
Since this charge would have a negative impact on any Canopy portfolio company [PO, Mr.
Yarro voluntarily agreed o rescind the February 2000 Option Agresment. Thereafter, Mr.
Noorda told Mt. Yarro and others that he was committed to comme up with a new equity
ownership plan that would benefit Mr. Yarro in a fashion similar to the February 2000 Option
Agroement but which would eliminate thie detrimental impact on Canopy portfolio companies.

30.  Mr. Noorda subsequently tasked several persons, including Mr. Noorda’s personal
legal, accounting and financial advisors, as well as M, Mott, to develop such a replacement
equity ownership plan, M1 and Mrs. Noordas® personal advisors subsequently conceived such a
plan, which was subsequently prepared, reviewed and approved by vatious legal, accounting and
financial professionals. Based upon the work of such professionals, Mr. and Mrs. Noorda
approved, signed and adopted various legal documents in November of 2(].00, which provided for
the recapitalization of Canopy and implemented this new plan (the new plan and the documents
comprising this plan, some of which are detailed below, are collectively referred to hereafter as
the “Canopy 2000 Recapitalization Plan™), and included the following:

(a) On or about November 3, 2000, Mr, and Mrs. Noorda voted the

Tmst’s shares in favor of adopting Canopy's Amended and Restated Articles of

Incorporation, authorizing Canopy to issiie up to 25 million shares of common

stock, with 25,000 of the sharey designated us Class A Voting Cornmon Stock,

and 24.975 million shares designated as Class B Non-Voting Common Stock.



The Trust’s shares were converied into 10,000 shares of Class A Voting Common
Stock and 9,990 million shares of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock. Each
Class A Voting Common Stock share has one vote on each matter to be voted on.
by Canopy’s shareholders. A copy of Canopy’s Amended and Restated Articles
of Incorporation is attached hereto at Tab 1 and incorporated herein.

(b) On or about November 7, 2000, Canopy’s Board of Diréctors,
consisting of Mr. and Mrs. Noorda and Mr. Yarro, unanimously adoptfzd The
Canopy Group, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan, by which certain persons, such as
eligible employees, could acquire equity in Canopy by obtaining and exercising
stock options in Canopy, af prices consistent with Canopy’s value at the time each
employee joined Canopy. Under this equity plan, Mr. Yaro was granted an
option to purchase 10,000 ghares of Class A Voting Common Stock and 9.990
million shares of Class B Non-Voting Comnmon Stock at $5 per share, a price
consistent with Canopy’s value at the time he joined Canopy. A copy of this
equity plan is attached hereto at Tab 2 and incorporated herein:

(©) On or about November 8, 2000, Canopy, Mr. and Mrs. Noorda as
trustees of the Trust, and Mr. Yatro entered into a Shareholder Agreement. This
Shareholder Agreerment containg provisions assuring that the three signatories
(M. and Mrs. Noorda and Mr. Yarro) would serve as directors of Canopy and it
contains other provisions consistent with the intention previously stated that Mr.
Yatro would be accorded the right of an equal participant in Canopy, Among
other things, this Shareholder Agreeinent prohibits any of the signatories from

taking any action that adversely affects the rights of any of the other signatories.



A copy of the Shareholder Agreement is attached hereto at Tab 3 and incorporated

herein,

31. Mt. Yarto, Mr. Mott and other employees have exercised their Clags, A Voting
Common Stock options, but have not emrqued all of their Class B Non-Voting Common Stock,
options. Afer Mr, Yarro exercised his Class A Voting Common Stock options; he held and
owned the same amount of Class A, Voting Common Stock (1 0,00b shares)uas the Trust.

32, On several occasions, Mr, Noorda stated that he was satisfied with the Canopy
2000 Recapitalization Plan because if fulfilled his direction to provide Canopy employees, and in
particular Mr. Yarro, with incentives to stay vﬂth Canopy for a long time, to work hard, and to
add value to Canopy and its portfolio coInpanies.

33, Concnrrent with the development of the February 2000 Option Agreement and the
Canopy 2000 Recapitalization Plan, Mr. and Mrs. Noorda caused lhelr personal advisors to
amend and finalize an estate plan with Mr. and Mrs. Noorda as trustees of the Trust.

34, Mr, and Mrs. Noorda stated that they wanted the Trust, among other things, to
avoid double taxation on the procesds of the Novell shares owied by the Trust, to provide for an
adult son with special needs, and to make large charitable donations,

35, Upon information and belief, Mr, and Mrs, Noorda did not make provisions in the
Trust for any inheritance of Canopy for their children but, to the extent they wished to do so,
intended to provide for them through other assets or life insurance policies held by the Trust, or
other assets. This belief is consistent with the numerous staternents made to Mr, Yatro and
others by Mr. and Mrs. Noorda that they did not want their children to have an interest in

Canopy, or to participate in Canopy or its management.

36. During and after this estate-pla Ng process, Mr. Peterson participated as an

10



advisor to Mr. and Mrs. Noorda. Over the years, Mr. Peterson sold over $100 million of life
insurance to the Trust to provide for the children and grandchildren of Mt. and Mrs. Noorda upon
their death, which, upon information and belief. resulted in significant commissions to, Mr.
Peterson. After a couple of years, Mr, and Mrs. Noorda cancelled these policies apparently
because of the extremely high annual premiums required to keep them in force.. l

37. In 2001, Mr. Christensen, who had previously heen: in privafé Taw practice und
had represented Canopy as outside legal coungel on certain matters, agteed to employment with
Canopy, and appointment as an officer, at a substantial salary reduction from his prior
employment. Mr. Christensen accepted these positions in reliance on assuranices that his
compensation would include incentive bonuses to be achieved upon the successful sales of
Canopy portfolio companies, as well as annual bonuses and the opportunity to participate in the
Canopy 2000 Recapitalization Plan.

38. As 4 Canopy employee, Mr, Christensen was granted options on Class A Voting
Common Stock and Class B Non-Voting Common Stock, and he has exerc;ised his Class A
Voting Common Stock options, to the extent they, have vested, but has not presently exercised all
of his Class B Non-Voting Comimon, Stock options. '

39, On mumerous oocasions, Ms. Kreidel contacted Mr. Yarro seeking information
conceming Canopy, as well as information regarding Mr. Noorda's health, Mr. and Mrs,
Noorda’s holdings and their estate, Mr. Varro politely provided general information, similar to
what could be obtained by vi siting the Canopy website. Becanse of the persistent nature of Mr.
Kreidel’s inquiries, Mr. Yarro asked Mr. and Mrs, Noorda how e should respond to Ms.
Kreidel’s inquiries. Mt. and Mrs. Nootda both emphatically instructed him that they did not

want Mr. Yaro to discuss Canopy or their other holdings with Ms. Kreidel, or to provide Ms.
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Kreidel with any substantive information about Canopy or their other holdings. They otherwise
reinforced their prior statements to Mr. Yarro that they did not want her involved with Canopy.

40.  Inearly 2002, Mr. Noorda told Mr. Yarro and others that he wanted to.reduce the
time he was devoting to Canopy.

41.  During 2002, Mr. Noorda resigned from all the Boatrds of the va;;lous Canopy
portfolio companies on which be had previously served. ‘. o

42, Throughout the remainder of 2002, and during 2003 and 2004, Mr. Noorda’s
direct involvement in the operation of Canopy diminished. Mr. and Mrs, Noorda, howoever,
remained members of the Board of Directors of Canopy, along with Mr. Yarro.

43. After Mr. Noorda proceeded to reduce the time he devoted to Canopy, Mr. and
Mrs. Noorda continued to attend all meetings of Canopy’s Board of Directors. The Board
ineetings included consideration of all material matters including, by way of illustration, Mr. and
Mrs, Noorda’s review, approval and ratification of Canopy’s annual budgets and Canopy’s
expenditures, including any and all distributions of bonuses, incentives, and all other
compensation to Canopy management and employees. Mr. and Mrs. Noorda aIs‘o participated in
various other meetings and discussions with Mr. Yarro with respect to the management and
business of Canopy. In the Board and other meetings, Mr, and Mrs, Noorda consistently directed
M. Yarro to continue to follow the sume course of management and to continue running the
affairs of Canopy as he had in the past, which course of management followed the manner in
which Mr. Noorda had previously operated Cauopy.

44.  The direction received from Mr. Noorda's mentotship of Mr. Yairo, and Mr.
Yarro's adherence to the principles taught him by Mr. Noorda, are principle reasons why

Canopy, under Mr. Yatro's management, has been a highly successful company. Canopy’s

12



success is manifested by ity financial position which, in late 2004, inchided assets of over $100
million in cash and an estimated value of approximately $300 million. This is in stark contrast to
Canopy’s financial position of having rinimal cash and an estimated value less than $100
million when Mr. Yarro was appointed General Manager.

45, Atsome point after 2002, but prior to December 17, 2004, Mr. Noorda’s memory
and health deteriorated to the extent that he became incapacitated aﬁd/or sugj é:‘ct to undue
influences. As a consequence, Mr, Noorda was rendered incapable of making sound business
and financial decisions, and was no longet able to sufficiently comprehend business documents,
and the nature of business decisions and their probable cousequences, to the extent required for
management of one’s own affairs or to participate in deciding the business affairs of a company.
Mrs. Nootda, Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Peterson, and, upon information and belief, Mr. Mustard as well
as John Does 1 through 10, all knew prior to December 17, 2004, that Mr. Noorda was
incapacitated and incompetent to make sound business and/or financial decisions, and was
otherwise suseeptible to being unduly influenced in making de;cisions.

46. At some point after 2002, but prior to December 17, 2004, Mrs, Noorda’s health
also deteriorated to the point where she ray be unduly influenced and, upon information and
belief, may be incompetent to make sound business and financial decisjons,

47.  Prior to the Fall of 2003, Mr. Peterson acted as the primary money manager of
Canopy’s funds. In the Fall of 2003, Canopy, through its officers, determined that it would be
beneficial for Canopy to diversify its money management. Mr. Peterson became extremely upset
at the decision.

48, Upon information and belief, sometime in 2004 and prior to December 17, 2004,

Ms. Kreidel became aware of the extent of Canapy’s assets and value, the ownership structure at
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Canopy, and fhe plan by which the Trust’s shares of Canopy would be donated to specific
charities, such that she and her siblings did not stand fo inherit anything from Canopy.

49, Upon information and belief, prior to December 17, 2004, Ms. Kyeidel;-knowing
of Mr. and Mrs. Noorda’s dependent conditions, deteriorating health, incompetgnce and/or
incupacity, and having discovered the extent of Canopy’s assets and value, its ownership
structure and the fact that she did not stand to inherit anything from Canop;, Began_.formulating
and actively participating in a wrongful scheme and course of conduct to disparage plaintiffs and
to exercise undue influence over Mr. and Mrs, Noorda, Ms, Kreidel did so in a malicious and
wrongful attempt to harm plaintiffs and others by, among other things, removing plaintiffs from
Canopy’s management so that she might gain control of Canopy for her own, personal benefit,

50. Upon information and belief, Ms. Kreidel enlisted the aid and assistance of Mr.
Peterson to assist her in this wrongfil scheme and course of conduct, Mr, Peterson didso in a
malicious and wrongful attempt to harm plaintiffs and to ingure that he would continue o obtain
cornmissionsfrom managing the substantial accounts of Canopy and the Trust,

51. In March 2004, Canopy’s Board of Directors (consisting of Mr, and Mrs. Noorda
and Mr, Yarro) met to approve the 2003 financial results and to approve the 2004 annual
operating budget. Mr. Peterson, acting as Mr. and Mg, Noorda’s personal financial advisor, also
attended the meeting. During the meeting, Mrs, Noorda expressed concerns about her and M.
Noorda’s deteriorating health, the fact that Mr, Noorda’s deteriorating tnemory made it very
difficult for him to make decisions, requiring Mrs. Noorda to make decisions that Mr, Noorda
would otherwise make. Mrs, Noorda also expressed how difficult it was for them to continue

dealing with Canopy maiters. To address the concerns raised by Mts, Noorda, Mr. Yarro

suggested that, if they wished, Canopy would em the Trust’s shares at fair market value



52, Shonly thereafter, Mr. Peterson, and then other persons Purporting to be Mr. and

Upon information and belief, Ms. Kreidel, My Peterson, and Johp Does 1 through 10, as part of
their wrongful scheme and course of conduct, seized upon the unfortunate condition of M,
Noorda and commenced directing decisions for him, and also began to exercise unduye and
improper influence on Mrs. Noorda, prior to and throughout this process. Further, Mr. Peterson
monitored the day-to-day cash iransactions of Canopy and, upon information and belief, made
Teports about the same to Ms, Kreide] and others,

53, Canopy, through plaintiffs, Pprovided the persons who purported 1o be Mr. and
Mrs, Noarda's personal attorieys and financial advisors a)] of the requested information. During
this process in 2004, Mr. Jerold Oldr‘;:yd, an’attomey at Ballard Spahr Andrews and Ingersoll,

LLP, (“Ballard Spahr), who purported to represent My, and Mrs. Noorda Personally,

contiftue to direct the affairs of Canopy in the same manner as he had i the past,

54, On or about December 9, 2004, Mr. Yarro was notified of Putported meeting of
Canopy’s Board of Ditectors to be held on December 17, 2004 (the “Decomber 170 meeting™).
M. Yarro was instructed that no one other than Mr. and Mrs. Noorda and Mr. Yamro woyld and
should attend thig meeting,

53. Contrary to the understzmding_g nicated to M., Yarro, Mr, and Mrs. Noords,




did not pergonally attend the December 1 7% mesting. Instead, Mr. Yatro was met by two Ballard
Spahr attomeys who purported to represent Mr. and Mrs. Noorda as well as Canopy. Mr. Yarro
was told that Mr. and Mrs, Noorda, as well as Ms, Kriedel and another Ballard Spahr attorney,
who also claimed to reprosent Mr. and Mrs. Noorda and Canopy, were at a separate location and
were going to participate in the meeting over a speaker phone. Th; physical arrangements for
this meeting were set up-by Mr. Petetson, - .
56.  During the December 17" meeting, Mrs, Noorda, apparently reading fiom a script,
moved to adopt a resolution which purportedly:
(a) granted Mr. Noorda 1,486 additional Canopy Class A Voting
Common Stock options and 1,484,514 Class B Non-Voting Common Stock
options, and granted herself 1,487 additional Class A Voting Common Stock
options and 1,485,513 Class B Non-Voting Common Stock options;
() terminated Mr, Yarro’s, Mr. Mott’s and Mr, Christensen’s
employment as officers of Canopy, purportedly fpr cause;
) elected Mr. Mustard as the President and Chief Executive Ofﬁ;cer
of Canopy; and
(d) enacted certain “enabling resolutions.”
After more than one request for a “second,” long pauses after each such request, and, upon
information and belief after being directed as to what to say and being unable to independently
comprehend the import of what was ocewrring, Mr. Noorda seconded the motion, Said
resolution, and the actions set forth therein, did not follow appropriate corporate procedure in
that there was not an informed and competent vote of a majority of Canopy’s Board of Directors,

Said resolution, and the actions set forth therein, also constituted = wrongful, unauthorized and

16



unlawttl attempt to gain contre] of a majority of Canopy’s Clags 4 Voting Common Stock, as
well as a flagvant breuach of the Shareholder Agreement entered into between My, Yarro and Mr,
and Mrs. Noorda over four years earlier,

57. In purporting to terminate plaintiff’s employment as officers of Canopy for cause,
defendants have inflicted additional dumage on plaintiffs by, dmong other things; attempting to
et off any further vesting of Class A Voting Common Stock by M. Chﬂsféﬁéen, attempting to
cut off plaintiffs’ ubility to extend the time to exercise their vested options, and attemnpting to
terminate plaintiffs’ rights to engage in the Cashless Exercige of their options pursuant to Article
2(IX(C) of The Canopy Group, Inc., 2000 Stock Option Plan, as detajled below.

58.  Upon information and belief, Ms. Kreidel and Tohn Does 1 thraugh 10 caused Mz,
and Mrs. Noorda to take the above-referenced actions against plaintiffs by exetting undue
influence on Mr. and Mrs, Noorda by improper means and/or for an improper purpose in an
effort to thwart My, and Mrs. Noorda’s long-held desire not to allow their children to inherit or
participate in any way in the management or ownership of Canopy.,

59. Upon information and belief, Mr. Peterson assisted, aided and abetted Mas, Kreidel
and John Does 1 through 10, in this wrongful scheme and courge of conduct and also exorted
undue influence on My, and Mrs. Noorda prior to-and after the December 17 meeting, Mr,
Peterson has stated that he was the petson who helped bring down Canopy’s management. [Jpon
information and belief, Mr. Peterson engaged in these actions to, among other things, curry the
tavor of Ms. Kreidel so that he might continue to manage Canopy’s, the Trust’s und Mr. and
Mys. Noorda’s money,

60. Mr. Mustard, upon information and belief, had been recruited by Ms, Kreidel, My,

Peterson, and/or Tohn Does 1 through 10, lo, in effect, assist in the attempted take-over of
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Canopy and to manage Canopy after the December 17 meeting. Mr. Mustard is a consultant
specializing in pre-liquidation event services, asset redeployment, implementation of stratogies
for deployment of corporate assets, and the leverage of personal relationships to drive |
redistribution of business assets through corporate action or otherwise, My, Mustald also
cousulls regarding corporate disposals and liquidations, and spiu-outs of curporate assets.

61.  Subsequent to the December 17" meseting, Ms. Kreidel, ussisiod by Mr. Mustard,
met with the then remaining Canopy employees, as well as with the presidents of Canopy’s
portfolio companies.

62, Plaintiffs are informed and believe that Ms. Kreidel is now “running the show™ at
Canopy, in that she is maraging Catopy through Mr, Mustard, and Mr. Mustard must obtain Ms.
Kreidel’s approval before making any significant or substantial decision regarding Canopy.

63. Subsequent to the Decernber 17t meeting, Ms. Kreidel ditectly and/or indirectly
through her agents, including Mr. Mustard, all of whom have acted under her directjon, have
threatened, intimidated and harassed Canopy employees, causing them, great distress. One
Canopy employee, who told family members about how distraught he was, tragically took his
life a few days following the December 17 meeting.

64.  Plaintiffs have been informed that Ms. Kreidel and/or her agents, including Mr,
Mustard, have required Caniopy employees to sign, under duress, documents back~dated to
December 17, 2004. .

65. ' As of December 16, 2004, Canopy had 12 full-time employees and, over the prior
nine years, most if not all employees who have left Canopy have gone to work for Canopy
portfolio companies, Following principles taught to him by Mr, Noorda, Mr, Yarro created s

wondertiy] work environment at Canopy such that all of the employees feel like they helong to
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the Canopy family. Now, as a result of the heavy-handed termination of plaintiffs and the
threatening and demeaning treatment of the remaining employees, orie long-time employee hag
taken his own life, and four other employees have resigned their employment at Canopy, all of
which has caused and continyes to cause irreparable harm to Canopy and, ﬂ'laefme its
shareholders, includin & plaintiffy. '

66.  Upon information and belief, defendants, or some‘of them, éétihg indirectly
through their representatives and/or agents, have threatened to file a lawsuit against plaintiffs in
an effort to intimidate them and force them to give up, among other things, their ownership of
Canopy stock and options which have value in excess of $100 million, This lawsuit is based on
an unfiled Complaint which contains false accusations and allegations against plaintiffy, and
which purports to assert various clajms against plaintiffs, all of which are without merit,

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Invalid Actions Purportedly Taken at the December 17 Meeting and Thereafter)

67. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations of
paragraphs 1 thtough 66 above, and 73 through 156 below.

68, On or before the December 17% mécting, Mr. Noorda and/or Mrs, Noorda had
become unable to serve as a director of Canopy by reason of incapacity, incompetency or
otherwise.

69.  Despite their insbility to serve as directors of Canopy, and despite their incapacity
and incompetency, Mr, and Mrs, Noorda purported to take certain actions at the December 17
Ineeting, including, without limitation, the purported grant of Canopy Class A Voting Common
Stock optiong and Class B Non-Voting Common Stock options to Mr. and Mys. Noorda; the

purported for cause termination of plaintiffe’ employment as officers of Canopy; the purported

Xecutive Officer of Canopy; and the

dppointment of Mr, Musfard as the President and ¢
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purported enactment of certain “enabling resblutions.”

70."  The actions taken at the December 17t rﬁeeting failed to follow appropriate
corporate procedure because these actions were undertaken without obtaining the tuformed and
competent vote of g majority of the members of Canopy’s Board of Directors, Therefore, at the
time of the December 17 meeting, at least one and Possibly two vacancies cXisted on the
Canopy Board, and all actions taken ar the December 17 mesting were wiﬁ&ut apl‘:ropﬁate
Board approval, without an appropriately constituted Board, and without the necessary votes to
pass the subject resolutions and actions taken,

71, Accordingly, the purported granting of additional Class A Voting Comnon Stock
options and Class B Non-Voting Common Stock options to Mr. and Mrs, Noorda is void ab
initio, is invalid, and i of no effect. Similarly, the purported termination of plaintiffs’
employment as officers of Canopy is void ab initio, is invalid,and is of no offect, and plaintiffs
remain officers of Canopy. Further, the subsequeﬁt actions by those purporting to be officers
and/or authorized agents of Canopy are also void ab initio, invalid, and of no effect

72, Plaintiffs are entitled to ajudicial declaration and judgment dccla.rﬁ1g that all
actions purportedly taken at the December 17" meeting, as well as all subsequent actions by
those purporting to be officers and/or agents of Canopy, are void ab initio, are invalid, and are of
no effect, including, without limitation, (a) the action putporting to grant additional Class A
Voting Common Stock options and Class B Non-Voting Common Stock options to Mr, and Mrs.
Noorda; (b) the action purporting to terminate plaintiffs’ employment as officers of Canopy; (c)
the action purporting to name M. Mustard as President and Chief Executive Officer of Canopy:

and (d) any and all purported enabling resolutions.
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Breach of Contract)

73. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations of
paragraphs 1 through 72 above, and 84 through 156 below. -

74.  As alleged herein, Mr, and Mrs. Noorda entered into certain written and ora]
agreements with plaintiffs and/or for the benefit of plaintiffs, which were valid and.enforceable,
including, without limitation, the Shareholder Agreement.

75.  The Shareholder Agreement includes contractual provisions which prohibit Mr.
and Mrs. Noorda from taking any action that adversely affects the rights of Mr, Yarro.

76.  The Shargholder Agreement also containg confractual provisions which set forth
the procedure that must be followed when M. and Mrs. Noorda became unwilling or unable to
serve as directors of Canopy (by reason of death, incapacity, resignation or otherwise).

Specifically, Section 1 of the Shareholder Agreement provides:

Mariagetnent of the Corporation. The Shareliolders shall take such action, as

shareholders, directors and officers of [Canopy], as may be necessary, required or
appropriate to accomplish the following:

(8) For so long as all of them are iviliing and able to serve as
ditectors of [Canopy], each of the Noordas and Yarro shall be
elected as directors of [Canopy].

(b) If any mermber of the group consisting of the Noordas and
Yarro shall, during the term of this Agreement, be unwilling or
unable to serve as a director of [Canopy] (by reason of denth,
incapacity, resignation or otherwise), then the three directors of
[Canopy] shall be appointed as follows:

(i) The Noordas (if both of theni are then living and
are not incapacitated) shall appoint two of the three
directors of [Canopy].

(if) The Noordas (if either of them has died or

become incapacitated) shal] appoint one of the three
directors of [Canopy].
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(i) Yarro (or the rightful successor to Yarro's
shares of Class A Comimon Stock) shall appoint one
of the three directors of [Canopy],
(iv) The third director shall be appointed by mutual
agreement of the two directors who are appointed
under paragraphs (i) and (iii) above,
77. The provisions in the Shareholder Agreement get forth how extruordinary matters

shall be handled. Specifically, Section 2(b) of the Sharcholder Apgreement i:;rc;i/idés', in part:

Extraordinary Matters, [Canopy] shali not proceed with any of the

following matters unless each of the Shareholders holding Class A
Common Stock has approved the matter:

(i) . . . enter into any voting or management
agreement regarding governance of [Canopy] that

would be inconsistent with the terms of this

Agreement;

(iv) . . . take any action that adversely affects the .

vights of any of the Shareholders set forth in this
Agreement.

78. On or before the December 171 meeting, Mr, Noorda and/or Mrs, Noorda had
become unwilling and/or unable to serve as a director of Canopy by reason of incapacity,
incompetency or otherwise. Despite these facts, the provisions'in the Shareholder ‘Agtreement for
appointing a riew director for Canopy were not followed.

79, Pursmant to the Shareholder Agreement, any extraordinary matters and actions,
such as those taken at the Decergber 17" meeting, could not be taken unless Mr, and Mrs,
Noorda and Mr, Yarro approved the matters and actions, Mr. Yaurro did not approve of the
extraordinary matters and actions taken at the December 17° meeting,

80. Al actions purportedly taken at the December | 7% meeting by Mr, and Mrs.

Noorda constituted a breach of the Shareholder Agreement, ineluding, without limitation, the

purported grant of Canopy Class A Voting Common §tock options and Class B Non-Voting
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Common Stock options to Mr, and Mrs, Noorda; the purported termination of plainfiffs’
employment as officers of Canopy, with cause; the purported appointment of Mr. Mustard as the
President end Chief Executive Officer of Canopy; and the purported enactment of certain
“enabling resolutions.”

81, By the conduct alleged herein, Mr, and Mts, Noorda haye mﬂteri&lly breached, or
caused the material breach of, the agreements with plaintiffs. o

82. As a direct and proximate cayse of Mr. and Mrs. Noorda’s breaches, as alleged
herein, plaintiffs have suffered and will continue to suffer damages. Plaintiffs are entitled to an
award of damages in an amount to be proven at trial, which amount exceods $100 million.

83, Plaintiffs are also entitled to a judgment declaring that all actions purportedly
taken at the December 17" meeting, as well as all subsequent actions by those purporting to be
officers and/or agents of Canopy, are void ab initio, are invalid, and are of no effect, including,
without limitation, (a) the action purporting to graﬁt additional Class A, Voting Common Stock
options and Class B Non-Voting Common Stock options to Mr. and Mrs. Noorda; (b) the action
purporting to terminate plaintiffs’ employment as officers of Canopy; (c) the action Purporting to
name Mr. Mustard as President and Chief Executive Officer of Canopy; and (d) bthe putported
enactment of any and all enabling resolutions.

' THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Breach of Fiduciary Duty - Joint Shareholders
and Directors of Closely Held Business)

R4, Plaintitfs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations of
paragraphs 1 through 83 above, and 90 through 156 below.

85.  Canopy is a closely held company with a limited numbcr‘ of persons who have

been shareholders, officers and direciors,
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86. As joint shareholders, officers and/or directors of Canopy, Mr. and Mrs. Noorda
owed plaintiffs a fiduciary duty analo gous to that owed by partners in a partnership to act with
the utmost good faith and loyalty with respect to each other's interests in Canopy.

87.  Mr, and/or Mrs. Noarda, to the extent either or both of them had comperitency and
capacity, breached their fiduciary duties to plaintiffs by, among other things, fai,ling to act in
good faith toward plaintifts and engaging in willful, intentional, aﬁd iﬁah’ciﬁué acts to force
plaintiffs out of the management of Canopy without cause and not for any valid corpotate
purpo‘se, and to deprive plaintitfs of financial and other benefits of owning shares and/or options
for shares of Canopy.

RS, Ag a direct and proximate result of these willful and intentional breaches of
fiduciary duty, plaintiffs have been damaged in an amount to be proven af ttial, which amount
exceeds $100 million.

89.  To the extent either or both of them had compentency and capacity, Mr, and/or
Mrs, Noorda’s above-described acts were the result of willful and malicious or intentionally
fraudulent conduct, or conduct that manifested a knowing and reckless indifference toward, and a
disregard of, the rights of plaintiffs, As a result, plaintiffs also are entitled to recover punitive
damages from Mr and/or Mrs. Noorda in an amount to be proven at trial.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIER
(Breach of Directors and Officers Statutory Standard
of Conduct - Utah Code § 16-10a-840)

90.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations of
paragraphs 1 throngh 89 above, and 97 through 156 below.

91. By the acts alleged herein, and to the extent Mr. and/or Mrs. Noorda have

competency and capacity, Mr. and/or Mrs. Noorda have engaged in gross abuse of authority and
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discretion with respect to Canopy. Mr. and Mrs. Noorda’s removal as dirsctors of Canopy is in
the best interests of Canopy and, therefore, plaintiffs.

92. Mr. and/or Mrs. Noorda, to the extent either or both of them have competency and
capacity, have cavsed the breach of the Canopy 2000 Recapitalization Plan, in part1cular the
Shareholder Agreerent, and other agreenients, and have allowed and encouraged the
mistreatment of Canopy employees, not for aty valid corporate purpose. Mr and/or Mrs
Noorda, to the extent either or both of them have competency and capacity, have not acted in
good faith es dircctors of Canopy in causing the breaches of the Canopy 2000 Recapitalization
Plan and other agreoments, and in allowing and encouraging the mistreatment of Canopy
employees.

93. Mr. and/or Mrs. Noorda, to the extent either or both of them have competency and
capacity, have not acted with the care of ordinarily prudent persons in like positions and under
similar eircumstances as directors of Canopy in cansing the breaches of the Canopy 2000
Recapitalization Plan and other agreements, and in allowing and encouraging the mistrestment of
Canopy employees.

94, Mr. and/or Mrs. Noorda, to the extent either or both of themn haye competency and
capacity, have not acted with a reasonable belief that their actions are jn the best interests of
Canopy.

95, To the extent they have competency and capacity, Mr. and/or Mis. Noorda's acts
and failures to act as directors of Canopy constitute gross negligence, willful misconduct, or
intenlional infliction of harm plaintiffs.

96. As a direct and proximate tesult of Mr. and/or Mrs. Noorda’s failure to adhere to

the statutory standard of conduct for corporate directors, plaintiffs have been damaged in un
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amount to be proven at trial, which amount exceeds $100 million,
FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Breach of Fiduclary Duties and Standards of
Conduct - By Arrogaied Directors) R i

97. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations of
paragraphs 1 through 96 above, and 106 through 156 below,

98, Alternatively, because Mr. and/or Mrs. Noorda lacked comééfency 'and capuoity,
wﬁich plaintiffs have alleged herein, then, as n consequence of sajid incapacity and incompetence,
Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Peterson, Mr, Mustard, and John Does 1 through 10, are acting as agents for, or
otherwise in, the place of Mr. and/or Mrs. Noorda with respect to the discharge of Mr. and/or
Mis, Noorda’s fiduciary duties as directors of Canopy.

99, By s0 acting, Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Peterson, Mr. Mustard, and John Does 1 through
10 have arrogated and assumed the fiduciary duties of directors of Canopy, and are liable for the
breach of those duties and applicable standards of condyct ag if they were validly elected
directors themselves.

100,  Said amrogation and usutpation of Mr. and/or Mrs. Noorda's duties as directors of
Canopy by Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Peterson, Mr. Mustard, and Joln Does 1 through 10, was wrongful.

101, Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Peterson, Mr, Mustard, and John Does 1 through 10, breached
their fiduciary duties to plajntitfs by, among other things, failing to act in good faith toward
plaintiffs and engaging in willful, intentional, and malicious acts to force plaintiffs out of the
management of Canopy without cause and not for any valid corporate purpose, and to deprive
plaintiffy of financial and other benefits of owning shares and/or options for shares of Canopy,

102, Ms, Kreidel, Mr. Petetson, Mr, Mustard, and John Doeg 1 through 10, have

caused the breach of the Canopy 2000 Recap}:@_i_z_qt_ion Plar_l_, in particular the Shareho)der
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Agreement, and other agreements, and have allowed and encouraged the mistreatment of Canopy
employees, not for any valid corporate purpose. Ms. Kreidel, Mr, Peterson, Mr, Mustard, and
John Does 1 through 10, have not acted in good faith as arrogated directors of Canopy in
breaching the Canopy 2000 Recapitalization Plan and other agreements, and in engaging in,
allowing and encouraging the mistreatment of Canopy cmployees.

103, Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Peterson, Mr. Mustard, and John boes 1 tﬁr&ugh 10, have not
acted with the care of ordinarily prudent persons in like positions and under similar
cirgumstances as directors of Canopy in breaching the Canopy 2000 Recapitalization Plan and
other agreements, and in engaging in, allowing and encouraging the mistrcatment of Canopy
employees,

104, As a direct and proximate result of these willful and intentional breaches of
fiduciary duty, and failures to adhere to the statutory standard of conduct for corporate directors,
plaintitfs have been damaged in an amount to be prover at trial, which amowmnt exceeds $100
million,

105, Ms. Kreidel’s, Mr. Peterson’s, Mr. Mustard’s, and John Does 1 through 10's,
above-described acts constitute gross negligence, were the result of willfial and malicious or
intentionally fraudulent conduct, or conduct that manifested a knowing and reckless indifference
toward, and a disregard of; the rights of plaintiffs. As a result, plaintiffs also are entitled to
recover punitive demages from Ms, Kreidel, Mr. Peterson, M, Mustard, and John Does 1
through 10, in an amount to be proven ar trial,

SIXTH CCLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Temporary Restraining Ordex/Preliminary and Permanent Injunction)

106,  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by refercnce the allegations of

paragraphs 1 thraugh 105 above, and 118 thiougli 156 below.,
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107.  On or before the December 17t meeting, Mr, Noorda had hecome unable to serve
as a director of Canopy by reason of incapacity, incompetency or otherwise.

108. At the December 17% meeting, Mr. and Mrs. Noorda purported to take certain,
actions that were void ab initio, ultra vires, and ineffective, including, without limitation, the
purported grant of Canopy Class A Voting Common Stock Optlons and Class B Non-Voting
Common Stock options to Mr. and Mrs, Noords; the purported termmatlon of plamtlﬂ's
employment a8 officers of Canopy, with cause; the purported appointment of Mr. Mustard as the
President and Chief Executive Officer of Canopy; and the purported enactment of certain
“enabling resolutions,”

109.  Subsequent to the Decerber 17* mesting, defendants caused a notige to he given
to each Canopy employee informing them not to take any direction from plaintiffs,

110,  Subsequent to the December 7™ meeting, locks and acceus codes were changed
on and in the Canopy office building, and oomput& passcodes were changed, so that plaintiffs
could no longer have access to the Canopy office building, Canopy offices, Canopy documents,
and/or Canopy resources.

111.  Prior to the December 17 meeting, Canopy was heavily involved in and working
on a number of confidential projects, including projects regarding Canopy’s portfolio companies.
Some of these projects have the capacity to be highly beneficial to Canopy and could result in
millions of dollars of income to Canopy, which would increase the value of Canopy’s Comumon
Stock. As a result of the purported removal of plaintiffs as officers of Canopy, as well asg
defendants’ mismanagement of Canopy and their lack of knowledge regarding these projects,
these projects have been severely jeopardized, and Canopy stands to lose millions of dollars and

valuable orporate opportunities which may never present themselves again, all of which is
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causing irreparable harm to the portfolio companies, Canopy and plaintiffs.

112, Subsequent to the December 17 meeting, defendants and/or those purporting to
be officers and/or agents of Canopy, are improperiy attempting to remove plaintiffs from the
boards of vatious portfolio companies, all of which is causing irreparable hatim to the portfolio
companies and, therefore, plaintiffs. “

113.  In addition, the purported removal of plaintiffs as ofﬂcers of 'Cénbpj};"as well as
defendants’ mismanagement of Canopy, has had a very negative impact on the morale of
employees of the portfolio companies. Certain of these employees are now looking for other
jobs, which will also cause irreparable harm to the portfolio companies, Canopy and plaintiffs.

114, Subsequent to the December 7% meeting, Canopy emplayees have been
mistreated and placed under great stress, all of which has destroyed the morale of Canopy
employees. As a result, key and valuable Canopy employees have terminated, or are considering
terminating, their employment with Canopy. The ioss of these employees wil] cause irreparable
harm to Canopy and plaintiffs.

115.  Plaintiffs will be injured in an amount which cannot be adequately measured or
compensated in damages, and plaintiffs have been and continue to he immediately and
irreparably harmed by the wrongful actions undertaken by defendants at the December 17
meeting and thereaﬁer. Accordingly, plaintiffs are entitled to an injunction, both pending this
action, ag well as after the entry of judgment, ordering fhat plaintiffs retnain as officers and
employees of Canopy, and enjoining defendants and theiy purported agents from: (a) restricting
plaintiffs’ access to Canopy buildings, offices, documents, records and computer resnurceé; (b)
hindering or restricting plaintiffs from exercising their duties and using their control as officers

and employees, and for Mr. Yarro also as director, of Canopy to continus managing Canopy's
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business; (c) causing the liquidation or material distribution, disposal ot dissipation of Canopy’s
assets except for in the normal course of business; (d) distributing any stock to Mr. and Mrs.
Noorda or allowing them to exercise any stock options; (e) making any statements that, greate "
uncertainty as to the authority of plaintiffs to act as officers of Canopy; and (f) mistreating
Canopy employees. .

116.  In the alternative, plaintiffs hereby ask the Court to appoint « neuiral custodian to
manage the business and affairs of Canopy, until such time as this litigation ig resolved or by
further order of the Court. The neutral custodian should be allowed to exercise all of the powers
of Canopy to the extent necessary to manage the affairs of Canopy in the best interests of its
shareholders and creditors, if any. The Court should further order that reasonable cotnpensation
and expenscs are to be paid to the neutral custodian from the assets of Canopy.

117, Plaintiffs also hereby ask the Count, pursuant to-Rule 35 of the Utah Rules of
Civil Procedure, for an order requiring Mr. and Mrs. Noorda to present thermselves for an
immedinte competency examination, performed by qualified physicians chosen by plaintitfs and
approved by the Court.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Breach of Covenant of Good Faith and Falr Dealing)

118,  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations of
paragraphs ] through 117 above, and 123 through 156 below,

119.  Wir. and Mrs. Noorda have a duty to act in good faith and deal fairly with
plaintiffs, including the duty to act consistently with the purposes of the agreements they had
entered into with and/or for the benefit of plaintiffs.

120.  Mr. and Mrs. Noorda breached the duty of good faith and fair dealing implied in

said agreements,
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121, As adirect and proximate result of Mr. and Mrs. Noorda’s breaches of the
covenant of good faith and fair dealing] plaintiffs have suffered und will continue to suffer
damages.

122, Plaintiffs are therefore entxtled to an award of damages in an amount to be proven

at rial, which amount exceeds $100 muhon

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Promissory Estoppel)

123, Plaintiffs re-allege and iy corporate herein by reference the allegations of
paragraphs 1 through 122 above, and 128 through 156 below.

124.  Mr, Noorda made promia;es to plaintiffs that were reasonably expected to induce
reliance. ‘

125.  Plaintiffs’ reasonable relifnce upon Mr. Noorda’s promises induced action and/or
forbearance by plaintiffs. . -

126.  Plaintiffs suffered detriment because of their reliance upon Mr. Noorda’s

promises.
127.  Pleintiffs are entitled to a;; award of damages in an amount to be proven at trial,
which amount exceeds $100 million. |

NINTH!CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(ConstrHctlu/Resultlng Trust)

128,  Plaintiffs re-allege and iné':mpomte herein by reference the allegations of
pazagraphs 1 through 127 above, and 131 through 156 below.

129,  Defendants have wrongfully acquired possession of or title to plaintiffy’ prdperty,
including, without limitation, plaintiffs” stocks and/or vested and unvested stock optiony, with

actual or constructive knowledge that such acquisition was wrongfil.
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|
|
130.  Plaintiffs are entitled to; conveyance of such property from defendants.
TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Declaration That Plaintiffs’ Employment
Was Not Terminated)

131.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations of
paragraphs 1 through 130 above, and 1“38 through 156 below, _

132.  The Canopy Group, Ine. 2000 Stock Option Plan governs tﬁe lexercise of Class A
Voting Common Stock and Class B Nt.;n-Voting Common Stock by persons whose employment
with Canopy has terminated for cause or without cause,

133, Pursuant to Article Z(D(F) of The Canopy Group, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan,

|

() Should the Optionee cease to remain in Service for any
reason other than| Cause, Disability or death, then the
Optionee shall hdve g period beginning on the date of
cessation of Service and ending on the later of (1) the date
that is three (3) months following the date of such cessation
of Service, or (2)} the last day of the next February
following the dafe of such cessation of Service, during
which it may exerciss sach outstanding vested Option held
by such Optionee.

()  Should the Optiones cease to remain in Service for Cause,
then the Optionee shall have a period beginning on the date
of cessation of Service and the ending on the date that is
one (1) month following the date of such cessation of
Service during which it may exercise each outstanding
vested Option held by such Optionee. As provided below,
however, an Optionee whose Servive ceases for Canse shall
not have any right to elect a Cashless Exercise,

134. A Cashless Exercise under the equity plan allows a person holding Clasa B Non-
Voting Common Stock options to elect to recsive a reduced number of shares in lieu of paying
the cash exercise price and withholding taxes.

135.  Pursuant to The Canopy (Pmup, Ine. 2000 Stock Option Plan,

Cause shall mean any of the fllowing: (i) Optionee’s material
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breach of any employes, confidentiality or other employment-
related agreement with [Canopy], (i) Optiones’s violation of
[Canopy]’s Polices and Procedure Manual, as amended from time
to Time, or (iii) Optionee's conviction of or entrance of & plea of
nolo contendere to a felony or to any other crime punishable by
incarceration.

Tab 2 at Appendix.
136.  The determination as to whether plaintiffs’ employment with Canopy has
terminated and if so, whether there was? cause, ad defined in The Canopy Group, Inc, 2000 Stock

Option Plan, for the termination of plaiintiffs’ employment, will affect plaintiffs’ rghts.
137.  Asslleged herein, plain,‘;iffs ave entitled to a judicial declaration by this Court: (1)
that plaintiffs’ employment ag officers ‘?t Canopy has not terminated; or, in the alternative, (2)
that plaintiff’s employment as officers lf Canopy terminated without cause.
ELEVE

(Tortions Interference Wi
and Tortious baterfere,

TH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Contract and Existing Economic Relations,
ce With Prozpective Economic Relations)

138.  Plaintiffs re-allege and i
paragraphs 1 through 139, above, and

139.  As aresult of their relatfonships and agreements with Canopy, plaintiffs wers

entitled to certain compensation, bonusts and benefits, including voting stock ownership and

options, as well as vested but unexercised non-voting stock options. Plaintiffs also had

substantial and lucrative prospective econornic relations as a resnlt of their relationships and

It
i A l
‘ause of their education, reputations and experience.

agreements with Canopy, as well as be
140.  Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Peterson and John Does | through 10, knew of plaintiffy’
existing contractual agreerments and relélﬁons with Canopy.
141. Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Petersfotn and John Does 1 through 10, knew of plaintiffs’

prospective economic relations.
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142, Ms, Kreidel, Mr. Peterson and Joh# Does 1 through 10, intentionally and
maliciously interfered with plaintiffs’ c;xisl:ing contracts and economic relations, as well as with
their prospective economic relations, for the improper purposes of enriching themselves to
éla.intiffs' disadvantage and/or otherwise injuring plaintiffs. Ms. Kreidel’s, Mr, Peterson’s and
John Does 1 through 10's, improper purposes predominated over any lepitimate business interest.

143.  Ms, Kreidel, Mr. Petersrin and John Does 1 through 10, utilized im];';roper means
to intentionally interfere with plaintiffs’ existing contracts and economic relations, and their
Pprospective economic relations by, among other things, falsely disparaging plaintiffs’ integrity,
and exerting undue influence over Mr. and Mrs. Noorda to wrongfully and unlawfully disiibute
additional Canopy shares to themselves, to threaten the filing of a false and malicious Complaint,
and to otherwise act in a manner that was contrary to Mr. and Mrs. Noorda’s expressed desires
end contrary to plaintiffs” contractual rights,

144,  The wrongful conduct of M. Kreidel, Mr. Peterson and Johu Does | through 10,
in intentionally interfering with plaintiffs’ existing contracts and economic relations, and their
prospective economic relations, actually and proximately caused injury to plaintiffs.

145, As aresult of M, Krei(i;l'u, Mr. Péterson’s and John Does 1 through 10's
intentional interference with plaintiffs’ existing contracts and economic relations, and their
prospective economic relations, plaintiffs have been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial,
which amount exceeds $100 million.

146.  As a result of the above-described wrongful conduct, plaintiffs are entitled to
recover ffom Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Peterson and John Does 1 through 10, actual, special and
consequential damages resulting from their wrongful conduct, and Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Peterson

and John Does 1 through 10, must be required to disgorge any benefit they obtained as a result of
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their wrongful conduct,

147.  Ms. Kreidel’s, Mr. Peterson’s and John Does 1 through 10's above- described acts
were the result of willfu] and malicious or intentionally fraudulent conduct, or conduct that v
mamfested 2 knowing and reckless inditference toward, and 2 disrepard of, the rights of
plaintiffs. As 1 result, plaintiffs also are entitled to TECOVEr punitive damages ﬁ-om Ms. Kreidel,
M. Peterson and John Does 1 through 10, in an amount to be proven at trigl.

TWELFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Undue Influence)

148.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incotporate herein by reference the allegations of
paragraphs 1 through 149 above, and 153 through 156 below,

149.  Ms. Kreidel, Mr, Peterson and John Does 1 through 10, knew of Mr. and Mrs.
Noorda’s dependent conditions and deté{z‘i:orating health and aqtively participated in 2 wrongfia]
scheme to exercise undue influence aver Mr. and Mrs. Noorda.

150.  Ma. Kreidel, Mr, Peterson and John Does 1 through IO exercised undue mﬂumce
over Mr. and Mrs. Noorda in a willfifl, mahclo.us zmd wrangful attempt 0 harm plmnt!st

151.  Ms. Kreidel, Mr. Petersomand John Does 1 through 10 were able to overcome the
will of Mr. and Mrs. Noorda through undue mﬂuence causing plaintiffs to suﬂ’er damages in an
amount to be proven at trial, which amount exceeds $100 million,

152, Ms. Kreidel's, Mr. Peterscn’s and Joln Doeg 1 through-.:lO‘s-above-described acts
were the result of willful and malicioys or intentionally fraudulent conducet, or conduct that

. manifested a knowing and reckless indifference toward, and g disregard of, the rights of
plaintiffs. As aresult, plaintiffs also are éntitled to recaver punitive damages from Ms, Kreidel,

Mr. Peterson and Joha Does 1 through 10, in an smount to be proven at trial.



THIRTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF.
(Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty)

153, Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations of
paragraphs 1 through 152 above, o

154, By the acts alleged herein, Ms, Kreidel, Mr. Peterson, Mr, Mustard and John Does
1 through 10 intentionally, knowingly, maliciously, and with recklesy indifference towards
plaintiffs’ rights, aided and abetted Mr, and Mrs, Noorda’s breaches of their fiduciary duties to
plaintiffs.

155, As a direct and proximate result of these wrongful acts, plaintiffs have suffered
and will continue to suffer damages in an amount to he Pproven at trial, which amount exceeds
$100 million.

156.  Ms. Kreidel's, Mr. Peterson’s, Mr. Mustard’s, and John Does 1 through 10's
above-described acts were the result of willful and malicions or ntentionslly fraudulent conduct,
or conduct that manifested a knowing aund reckless indifference toward, and & disregard of, the
rights of plaintiffs. As a result, plaintiffs also are entitled to recover punitive damages from M.
Kreidel, Mr. Peterson, Mr. Mustard, and John Does | through 10 in an amount to be proven at
trial.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs pray for the following relief:

1. A judgment declaring that all actions purportedly taken at the December 1 7%
meeting, 43 well as a]l subsequent actions by those purporting to be officers and/or agenta of
Canopy, are void gb initio, wltra vires, and of no effect, including, without limitation, that (a) the
action purporting to distribute additional Clags A Voting Common Stock options and Class B

Non-Voting Common Stock options to Mr. andMlsNomzla (b) the action purporting to
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terminate plaintiffs’ employment as officers of Canopy with cause; (c) the action purporting to
hame Mr. Mustard as President and Chief Executive Officer of Canopy; and (d) the purported
enactment of any and all enabling resolutions; - .

2. A judgment against defendants and for plaintitfs for damages suffered by
plaintiffs in an amount to be Proven at trial, which amount exceeds $100 mllhon

3, An order removing Mr, and Mrs. Noor: da as directors of Canopy puréuunt to Utah
Code § 16-10a-809;

4, An injunction and order, botl; pending this action, as well ag after the entry of
Jjudgment, ordering that plaintiffs remain as officers and employees of Canopy, and enjoining
defendants and their purported agents from: (a) restricting plaintiffs’ access to Canopy buildings,
offices, documents, records and computer resources; (b) hindering or Testricting plaintiffs from
exercising their duties and using their control as officers and efmployees, and for Mr, Yarro also
as a director, of Canopy to continue managing Canopy’s business; (c) causing the liquidation or
material distribution, disposal or dlss1patlon of Canopy’s assets except for in the normat course
of business; (dy d[stubutmg dny stock to M. and Mrs. Noorda or allowing them to exercise any
atock options; (¢) making any staternents that create uncertainty as to the authonty of pluintiffs to
aot as officers of Canopy; and (D) mistreating Canopy employees,

S. Altematively, an order appointing a neutrs] custodian to tnanage the business snd
affairs of Canopy, unti] such time as this litigation is resolved or by further order of the Court,
granting the neutral custodian the right to exercise all of the powers of Canopy to the extent
hecegsary to imanage the affairs of Canopy in the best interests of its sharcholders and creditors, if
any, and providing that reasonable compensation and expenses are to be peid to the neutral

custodian from the assets of Canopy; e .
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6. An order, pursuant to Rule 35 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, requiring Mr.
and Mrs. Noorda to present themselves for an immediate competency examination, performed by
qualified physicians chosen by plaintiffs and approved by the Couurt,

. 7. A judgment ordering the conveyance of the constructive and/or resulting trust
from defendants to plaintiffs;

8. A judgment awarding plaintiffs punitive damages in. an amoﬁm? to be proven at
trial;

9. A judgement declaring (1) that plaintiffs’ employment as officers of Canopy has
not terminated; or in the alternative, (2) that plaintiff’s employment as officers of Canopy
terminated without cause;

10, An award for plaintiffy’ costs and reasonable attorneys’ feeg inciered in this
Tawsuit; and

11, For such other and ﬁJr’ther relief deemed appropriate by this Cnurt

DATED this M 2 "day of January 2005.
SNOWJ CHRISTENSEN & MARTINEAU

Maralyn M Reger
Attomneys for Plaintiffs
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JURY DEMAND
Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury on all issues so triable in this action,
DATED this 202 day of Tanuary, 2005.
SNOW, CHRISTENSEN & MARTINEAU

7, 7.l

Stanley J. Ppesibn

Michael R, Iston

Maralyn M. Reger
Attomneys for Plaintiffs

Plaintiffs’ Addresses;

Ralph Yarro

4526 Vintage Drive

Provo, Utah 84604

Darcy Mott

764 High Ridge Drive

Alpins, Utah 84004

Brent Christensen ‘ SRR AL

2890 Newmans Lane
Salt Lake City, Utah 84121
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